IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC14-185

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE
CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

L.T. Case No. 1D13-1951

vs.

PERDIDO SUN CONDOMINIUM
ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Kara Berard Rockenbach
METHE & ROCKENBACH, P.A.
1555 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Ste. 1200
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (561) 727-3600
Facsimile: (561) 727-3601

Raoul G. Cantero
David P. Draigh
Ryan A. Ulloa
WHITE & CASE LLP
Southeast Financial Center
200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Ste. 4900
Miami, Florida 33131-2352
Telephone: (305) 371-2700

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

In this case, Perdido Sun Condominium Association, Inc. (“Perdido”) sued Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (“Citizens”), alleging a first-party bad faith claim under section 624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes. Adopting the reasoning of *Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. Garfinkel*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), *disapproved on other grounds*, *Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. San Perdido Ass’n*, 104 So. 3d 344 (Fla. 2012), the circuit court granted Citizens’ motion to dismiss with prejudice, holding that the action is barred by section 627.351(6)(s)1., Florida Statutes—which grants Citizens immunity from suit subject to certain exceptions—because a bad faith claim is not a “willful tort” under that section, and therefore not an exception to Citizens’ immunity. In its January 23, 2014 opinion (the “Opinion”), the First DCA reversed, holding—contrary to the Fifth DCA in *Garfinkel*—that a bad faith claim under section 624.155(1)(b)1. *is* a willful tort under section 627.351(6)(s)1., and therefore that Citizens is not immune from such a claim.

This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3)-(4) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)-(vi) because the Opinion conflicts with decisions of the Fifth DCA. Indeed, the First DCA certified a direct conflict with *Garfinkel*, and the First DCA also certified a question of great public importance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

After its property was damaged by a hurricane in 2004, Perdido made a claim on its insurance policy with Citizens (A. 3). Unsatisfied with the amount of Citizens' payment on the claim, Perdido sued for breach of contract (A. 3). Perdido prevailed, and the judgment in its favor was affirmed in *Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. San Perdido Sun Condominium Ass'n*, 22 So. 3d 71 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009) (A. 3-4). Perdido then filed a second lawsuit against Citizens under section 624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, alleging that Citizens did not in good faith attempt to settle Perdido's claims against it (A. 4).

Citizens moved to dismiss Perdido's complaint on grounds that it is immune from suit under section 627.351(6)(s)1., which grants Citizens immunity from suit subject to certain exceptions, among them one for claims alleging a "willful tort." § 627.351(6)(s)1., Fla. Stat. (2013). The circuit court dismissed Perdido's complaint with prejudice, "adopting the reasoning and statutory analysis of Citizens' immunity from suit" set forth in *Garfinkel* and in Judge Wetherell's dissent in *Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n*, 46 So. 3d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (A. 4).

The First DCA reversed, holding that a bad faith claim under section 624.155(1)(b)1. is a "willful tort" under section 627.351(6)(s)1., and therefore that

¹ The Statement of the Case and Facts is taken from the Opinion, which is attached in the Appendix. "A. #" refers to the page number of the Appendix.

Citizens is not immune from bad faith actions under section 624.155(1)(b)1. (A. 7). In the Opinion, the First DCA acknowledged the contrary holding of *Garfinkel*, 25 So. 3d 62, in which the Fifth DCA held that a bad faith action under section 624.155(1)(b)1. is *not* a “willful tort” under 627.351(6)(s)1., and therefore that Citizens is immune from first-party bad faith lawsuits (A. 4).

The First DCA certified conflict with *Garfinkel* “[t]o the extent that” it “expressly and directly conflicts with” the Opinion (A. 7-8). In addition, “in light of Citizens’ status as a government entity serving the compelling public purpose described in its enabling statute,” the First DCA also certified a question of great public importance: “Whether the immunity of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, as provided in section 627.351(6)(s), Florida Statutes, shields the corporation from suit under the cause of action created by section 624.155(1)(b), Florida Statutes for not attempting in good faith to settle claims?” (A. 8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Opinion expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Fifth DCA. The Opinion holds that section 627.351(6)(s)1., Florida Statutes, does not immunize Citizens from bad-faith claims under section 624.155(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, because bad-faith claims are “willful torts” and therefore an exception to immunity. In sharp contrast, the Fifth DCA held that bad-faith actions are *not* “willful torts,” and that section 627.351(6)(s)1. makes Citizens immune from first-

party bad faith actions under section 624.155(1)(b)1. The Court has jurisdiction to review this clear conflict. Moreover, the Court has recognized that the issue of Citizens' immunity from bad-faith actions needs to be answered. It declined to answer the question in 2012 only because it was presented on interlocutory review. The issue is now before the Court on review of a final order, and the Court has jurisdiction to determine this question of statewide importance.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DCA CERTIFIED A DIRECT CONFLICT, AND ITS OPINION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE FIFTH DCA BECAUSE IT HOLDS THAT CITIZENS IS NOT IMMUNE FROM BAD FAITH LAWSUITS

The Opinion addresses the interplay between section 624.155, which provides a civil remedy for persons damaged by an insurer's alleged failure to settle claims in good faith, and section 627.351, which immunizes Citizens from suit subject to five exceptions, among them an exception for the commission of a "willful tort." See §§ 624.155(1)(b)1., 627.351(6)(s)1., Fla. Stat. (2013). The Opinion clearly holds that "failing to attempt in good faith to settle claims as provided by section 624.155, Florida Statutes," is a "willful tort," and that the "'willful tort' exception to Citizens' immunity from suit allows Citizens[] to be sued for the statutory civil remedy provided in section 624.155[(1)](b)." (A. 7).

Thus, the Opinion directly conflicts with *Garfinkel*, in which the Fifth DCA held that "[n]owhere in section 627.351(6)[(s)]1[.] is there a specific exception

stated for statutory bad faith claims under section 624.155(1)(b)[1.],” and that a “bad faith claim . . . is not considered to be a willful tort that would give rise to a claim for damages.” 25 So. 3d at 66, 68. The Fifth DCA further held that “first-party bad faith causes of action now exist in Florida not because they are torts, but because they are a statutory cause of action,” and “cannot be wedged into the statutory exception for willful torts.” *Id.* at 68-69. The Fifth DCA held similarly about six months later. *See Citizens Prop. Ins. v. La Mer Condo. Ass’n*, 37 So. 3d 988 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), *disapproved on other grounds, Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. San Perdido Ass’n*, 104 So. 3d 344 (Fla. 2012).

Therefore, the Opinion expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of another district court of appeal, and this Court has jurisdiction. *See, e.g., Aravena v. Miami-Dade Cnty.*, 928 So. 2d 1163, 1166-67 (Fla. 2006) (granting jurisdiction on conflict grounds when the holdings of two district courts of appeal are irreconcilable). Indeed, in the Opinion, the First DCA itself certified a conflict with *Garfinkel* “[t]o the extent that the opinion in [*Garfinkel*] expressly and directly conflicts with the [Opinion]” (A. 7-8).

II. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION TO DETERMINE WHETHER CITIZENS IS IMMUNE FROM BAD FAITH CLAIMS, WHICH IS AN ISSUE OF STATEWIDE IMPORTANCE

There is no dispute that the Opinion exposes Citizens to liability to which other courts have held it to be immune, and would therefore subject a

governmental entity to litigation expense and additional damages exposure that would be borne by Florida taxpayers. And the courts have articulated strong reasons why the Fifth DCA's opinion in *Garfinkel* states the better rule—for example, that allowing bad faith claims against Citizens is “unsound policy because subjecting Citizens to bad faith claims of policy holders . . . who have already been paid for the losses insured by Citizens will only serve to reduce the financial resources available to Citizens to pay claims of other policyholders.” *San Perdido Ass'n*, 46 So. 3d at 1056 (Wetherell, J., dissenting). That is particularly true where Citizens' enabling statute provides that it is “essential” that Citizens “have the maximum financial resources to pay claims.” § 627.351(6)(a)1., Fla. Stat. (2013). Indeed, “because Citizens is a governmental entity (and not a private insurance company), the taxpayers will ultimately bear the burden of paying claims that Citizens is unable to pay.” *San Perdido Ass'n*, 46 So. 3d at 1056 (Wetherell, J., dissenting).

Although holding that Citizens is not entitled to immunity from statutory bad faith claims, the First DCA recognized that this Court should have the ultimate say by certifying a question of great public importance: “Whether the immunity of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, as provided in section 627.351(6)(s), Florida Statutes, shields the corporation from suit under the cause of action created

by section 624.155(1)(b), Florida Statutes for not attempting in good faith to settle claims?” (A. 8).

Indeed, this Court has already recognized that whether Citizens is immune from bad faith actions is an open question that needs to be answered. In *San Perdido Ass'n*, this Court recognized that the immunity in question here “involves a matter of statutory construction that once resolved will not reoccur; that is, whether Citizens’ immunity includes immunity against statutory first-party bad faith causes of action. Once this legal question is answered, there will not be a need for an interlocutory appeal to answer the same question again.” 104 So. 3d at 357. This Court declined to reach the issue only because it was raised on interlocutory appeal, and the Court “decline[d] to expand the list of non-final orders reviewable on appeal to include this discrete legal issue.” *Id.* Because the precise issue is now before the Court again, on appeal from a *final* order, and because the Opinion—which eliminates immunity—is in direct conflict with the Fifth DCA’s rule upholding immunity, this Court should exercise its conflict jurisdiction to settle the question.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should accept jurisdiction to determine whether Citizens is immune from first-party bad faith actions.