IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE
CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: SC14-185
L.T. No.: 1D13-1951

PERDIDO SUN CONDOMINIUM
ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent,

**ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION OF RESPONDENT,
PERDIDO SUN CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.**

Richard M. Beckish, Jr.
LIBERIS LAW FIRM, P.A.
212 West Intendencia Street
Pensacola, Florida 32502
Phone: (850) 438-9647
Fax: (850) 433-5409
Attorneys for Respondent, Perdido
Sun Condominium Association, Inc.

JURISDICTION

Respondent, Perdido Sun Condominium Association, Inc. (hereinafter, “Perdido Sun”) hereby agrees with and adopts the “Jurisdictional Statement” contained in Petitioner Appellee, Citizens Property Insurance Corporation’s (hereinafter, “Citizens”) Brief on Jurisdiction with one exception: While the First District Court of Appeals did certify conflict with the opinion in *Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkle*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), (Opinion A. 7-8)¹, Perdido Sun asserts that *Garfinkle, supra*, had been expressly overruled by this Court before Citizens filed its appeal and before the First District Court of Appeals rendered its decision in the instant case. Therefore, Perdido Sun asserts that there is no conflict between the districts and this Court does not have jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution (conflict jurisdiction).

However, it is also true that the First District Court of Appeals certified the following as a question of great public importance:

“WHETHER THE IMMUNITY OF CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION, AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 627.351(6)(S), FLORIDA STATUTES, SHIELDS THE CORPORATION FROM SUIT UNDER THE CAUSE OF ACTION CREATED BY SECTION 624.155(1)(B), FLORIDA STATUTES FOR NOT ATTEMPTING IN GOOD FAITH TO SETTLE CLAIMS?”

¹ For convenience, Perdido Sun adopts Citizens’ reference system to the Appendix to its Brief containing the Opinion from the Court below.

(Opinion, A. 8).

Since pursuant to Rule 9.120(d) *Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure* briefing concerning matters in which jurisdiction is invoked under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) (matters certified as “of great public importance”) is not allowed, it is presumed that jurisdiction in such matters is purely discretionary with the Court and Perdido Sun offers no argument on the subject.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The instant case is an action for damages for first party bad faith by an insurer, pursuant to §624.155, et seq. *Florida Statutes* resulting from disputes over payments due to Perdido Sun pursuant to a policy of insurance issued by Citizens, for damage caused by Hurricane Ivan. Like all bad faith actions, the instant case is based upon an underlying judgment for breach of the insurance policy and it is from that underlying case that the facts of the instant case are derived. See, *Perdido Sun Condominium Assoc., Inc. v. Citizens Prop.Ins. Corp.*, Escambia County Case No. 2005-CA-000831.²

² A companion case was filed simultaneously by San Perdido Association, Inc. (“San Perdido”). *San Perdido Association, Inc. v. Citizens Property Insurance Corporation*, Escambia County Case No. 2005-CA-000835. The two cases involved nearly identical facts and legal issues and were consolidated by the trial court and were later appealed as a single case. *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v San Perdido Assoc., Inc.*, 22 So. 3d 71 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009).

Appraisal was conducted and after a final evidentiary hearing the trial court entered final summary judgment in Perdido Sun's favor affirming the appraisal award in the amount of \$5,000,240.23, finding that the undisputed evidence showed that Citizens had breached the policy and awarding additional damages in Perdido Sun's favor in the amount of \$666,403.04, including attorney fees and costs. The award was later affirmed on appeal by the First District Court of Appeal. *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc., Inc.*, 22 So. 3d 71 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009).

Subsequently, the instant case was filed by Perdido Sun on May 27, 2009, alleging a single count of bad faith failure by Citizens to pay benefits under the Policy pursuant to §624.155 *Florida Statute*. Simultaneously, San Perdido filed an identical bad faith action. *San Perdido Association, Inc. v. Citizens Property Insurance Corporation*, Escambia County Case No. 2009-CA-001666. Citizens immediately moved to dismiss both cases asserting that Citizens enjoys sovereign immunity from bad faith liability. The San Perdido case was heard first (the two bad faith cases had not been consolidated at that point as had the breach of contract cases). The trial court denied Citizens' motion to dismiss in the San Perdido case.

Citizens appealed the *San Perdido* case and the First District Court of Appeal denied Citizens' appeal based upon the procedural ground that an interlocutory appeal did not lie for denial of a motion to dismiss. *Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc., Inc.*, 46 So. 3d 1051, (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). This Court affirmed, adopting in part this Court's rationale and remanding *San Perdido* to the trial court for further proceedings. *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc. Inc.*, 104 So. 3d 344 (Fla. 2012).

While *San Perdido* proceeded through the appellate courts, the instant case was stayed by agreement of the parties. After the remand of *San Perdido*, the stay was removed in the instant case and Citizens immediately renewed its motion to dismiss. The trial court ruled in Citizens' favor entering final judgment dismissing the instant case with prejudice. The trial court specifically based its ruling on the reasoning set forth in *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkle*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), and Judge Wetherell's dissenting opinion in *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido*, 46 So. 3d 1051 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).

The First District Court of Appeals reversed, holding that a bad faith claim pursuant to §624.155(1)(b)(1) is a willful tort and therefore falls within the exception to Citizens statutory immunity contained in its enabling statute at §627.351(6)(s)(1)(a) *Florida Statutes*. (Opinion A. 5-7). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Citizens seeks to invoke this Court's jurisdiction pursuant to (1) Article V, Section 3(b)(3)-(4) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)-(vi) ("conflict jurisdiction") and (2) Article V, Section 3(b)(5) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) ("question of great public importance").

In regard to conflict jurisdiction, the First District Court of Appeal certified conflict between its decision and that of the Fifth District in *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkle*, 25 So. 3d 62 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). However, *Garfinkle* itself was expressly overruled by this Court in *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc. Inc.*, 104 So. 3d 344 (Fla. 2012). This Court held that the *Garfinkle* Court never had jurisdiction to hear the case in the first place. *San Perdido*, 104 So. 3d at 346. Therefore, the "substantive holding" in *Garfinkle* is void and has no precedential value whatsoever and cannot be the basis of conflict jurisdiction.

In regard to public importance jurisdiction, as stated above, whether a matter is "of great public importance" is purely within the discretion of this Court and as briefing of this issue is not allowed by Rule 9.120(d) *Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure*, that portion of Citizens' Brief should be stricken and not considered by the Court.

ARGUMENT

I. There are no Legal Grounds for Conflict Jurisdiction.

In *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc. Inc.*, 104 So. 3d 344 (Fla. 2012), this Court held:

“We resolve the certified conflict by concluding that a writ of prohibition is not available to challenge a non-final order denying a motion to dismiss based on a claim of sovereign immunity where sovereign immunity has been partially waived. We therefore approve *San Perdido* to the extent that it recognized a writ of prohibition is unavailable and disapprove *Garfinkel* and *La Mer* to the extent that those cases use a petition for writ of prohibition to reach the issue pertaining to this type of sovereign immunity. We decline to answer the extremely broad certified question, which could apply to many different types of claims of sovereign immunity,¹ but rather rephrase it as follows to address the circumstances of this case:

Should appellate review of a claim of immunity by Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, a state-created entity, from a bad faith action arising out of the handling of a property damage claim await the entry of a final judgment in the trial court?

For the reasons explained in this opinion, we answer that rephrased certified question in the affirmative.”

Id. at 346 (emphasis added).

Garfinkle concerned, “The petitioner, Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, seeks a writ of prohibition directed to the trial court to prevent the court from taking any further action with respect to a first-party bad faith claim brought by the respondent, Alan B. Garfinkel.” *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. Garfinkle*, 25 So. 3d

62, 63 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). In other words, jurisdiction for the entire Garfinkle opinion was based upon an application for a writ of prohibition and in accordance with this Court's holding in *San Perdido* the Fifth District Court of Appeals had no jurisdiction to hear the Garfinkle case in the first place. Without jurisdiction, the Fifth District Court of Appeals' opinion is a legal nullity. *See, State ex rel. v. Morphinos*, 253 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1971). Therefore, there are no legal grounds for conflict jurisdiction.

II. Citizens' Arguments Pertaining to Public Importance Should be Stricken.

Perdido Sun recognizes that the First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to be one of great public importance in its opinion:

“WHETHER THE IMMUNITY OF CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION, AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 627.351(6)(S), FLORIDA STATUTES, SHIELDS THE CORPORATION FROM SUIT UNDER THE CAUSE OF ACTION CREATED BY SECTION 624.155(1)(B), FLORIDA STATUTES FOR NOT ATTEMPTING IN GOOD FAITH TO SETTLE CLAIMS?”

Whether this Court takes jurisdiction on the basis of “great public importance” is purely a matter of this Court's exercise of its discretion.

However, briefing of this issue is prohibited by Rule 9.120(d) Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure which provides in pertinent part:

“... If jurisdiction is invoked under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(v)(certifications of questions of great public importance by the district courts to the supreme court), no briefs on jurisdiction shall be filed.”

Citizens’ brief on this issue is full of self serving argument on policy issues that have nothing to do with the basic question of jurisdiction and, further, is prohibited by the rule cited above. Therefore, Section II of Citizens’ brief is due to be stricken and not considered by this Court.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons cited above, Respondent, Perdido Sun, respectfully submits that this Court does not have a sufficient jurisdictional basis to review the instant case on grounds of conflict jurisdiction.